```
1 {York Stenographic Services, Inc.}
```

- 2 RPTS BROWN
- 3 HIF323.180
- 4 CYANOTOXINS IN DRINKING WATER
- 5 WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2014
- 6 House of Representatives,
- 7 Subcommittee on Environment and Economy
- 8 Committee on Energy and Commerce
- 9 Washington, D.C.

- The Subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:18 a.m.,
- 11 in Room 2322 of the Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. John
- 12 Shimkus [Chairman of the Subcommittee] presiding.
- 13 Members present: Representatives Shimkus, Latta, Harper,
- 14 McKinley, Bilirakis, Johnson, Tonko, and Barrow.
- 15 Staff present: Nick Abraham, Legislative Clerk; Leighton
- 16 Brown, Press Assistant; Jerry Couri, Senior Environmental

- 17 Policy Advisor; David McCarthy, Chief Counsel,
- 18 Environment/Economy; Tina Richards, Counsel, Environment;
- 19 Chris Sarley, Policy Coordinator, Environment & Economy;
- 20 Jacqueline Cohen, Democratic Senior Counsel; and Ryan Schmit,
- 21 Democratic EPA Detailee.

22 Mr. {Shimkus.} Call the Subcommittee to order, and the 23 Chair will recognize himself for 5 minutes for an opening 24 statement. 25 Today's subcommittee will be taking a look at the 26 harmful algal blooms in drinking water, including the source water used for drinking. I thank Representative Latta for 27 28 his efforts on this issue, for bringing it to the 29 Subcommittee's attention. He has delved into the minutiae of 30 this issue in search of a useful and long term solution to 31 this problem. Having sit in--having sat in some of the 32 meetings with Mr. Latta, it has been--that he has been having 33 on this issue, I realize what a complex and widespread issue 34 this is, but one which only gained national attention a few 35 months ago. 36 Some folks may be tempted to think that there are easy 37 solutions to this problem, but I caution jumping to simple or 38 sweeping conclusions. There is no single smoking gun that 39 leads to algae based toxins in drinking water. I believe we 40 will hear our witnesses say that there are still plenty of 41 things that we don't know about this subject.

42 I understand from drinking water treatment professionals 43 that many types of cyanobacteria and diversity of the habitat 44 make it complicated to predict the precise conditions 45 favoring their growth. Physical factors that affect whether 46 cyanobacteria grow include available light, weather 47 conditions, water flow, temperatures, and mixing within the 48 water column. Acidity and nutrient concentrations, including 49 those from municipal wastewater, urban lawn and golf course 50 management, and agricultural processes all contribute to 51 algal bloom growth. In addition, we will hear testimony that 52 experiencing a blue-green algae bloom does not always mean 53 there is a cyanotoxin problem. 54 We need to know more about this issue. We understand 55 that there are--at least 35 states have reported blue-green 56 algal blooms, but we need to separate out the drinking water 57 concerns from those seen in the recreational waters context. 58 This hearing is meant to focus on the Safe Drinking Water 59 Act, not lawns in other subcommittees or committees, whether 60 that be a regulation of nitrogen disposition under the Clean 61 Air Act or nutrient management under the Clean Water Act. 62 There are plenty of questions within the context of

- 63 ensuring the provision of safe drinking water that we should 64 focus on and learn about today. Our hearing will allow us to 65 focus on where we are with our understanding of the U.S. 66 EPA's effort on better grasping blue-green algal--algae in 67 the drinking water context, including health effects and 68 current data, monitoring and testing techniques, and public 69 health communication strategies. We will also hear from 70 witnesses on what happened this past August in Ohio, and what 71 lessons we learned. Finally, we will get a better sense of 72 what drinking water treatment professionals are doing to 73 better prepare to handle these events. 74 I want to thank the witnesses for being here today, and 75 yield the rest of my time to Mr. Latta.
- 76 [The prepared statement of Mr. Shimkus follows:]
- 77 ********* COMMITTEE INSERT **********

78 Mr. {Latta.} Well, thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank 79 you very much for holding this very important hearing today. 80 I really appreciate it, and your interest in the subject, 81 because it affects so many millions of Americans, 82 First, I would like to recognize one of our witnesses 83 today from my home state, Ohio EPA Director Craig Butler. Mr. Butler has been director of the Ohio EPA since early 84 85 2014, and previously served in the governor's administration as the assistant policy director for energy, agriculture, and 86 87 the environment. I have had the pleasure of working with 88 Director Butler on issues of great importance to Ohio. 89 grateful that he is able to be here today to share his 90 expertise and insights with the subcommittee. 91 The United States is truly fortunate to have a vast 92 amount of surface water. It provides immense value to our 93 nation's ecosystem and economy, as well as drinking water to 94 countless Americans. To me, nowhere is this more evident 95 than the Great Lakes, the largest surface freshwater system 96 on Earth, that provides drinking water to tens of millions of 97 people.

98 Unfortunately, cyanotoxins in public drinking produced 99 from harmful algal blooms are presenting a serious concern for our health. This past August, half a million people in 100 101 the Toledo area, many of which are residents of my district, 102 were unable to utilize their public drinking water for over 2 103 days without risking potentially negative health effects due 104 to the high level of cyanotoxins, microsystems--detected in 105 the city's public water supply. During that time, both 106 concerns and questions were raised about testing protocols, 107 treatment process, appropriate responses on how to respond to 108 the problem in the short term. 109 I know from my personal experience that the State, 110 including Director Butler, and the U.S. EPA worked tirelessly 111 with the local water utility to get the situation under 112 control. I commend their hard work, and the steps they have 113 taken since to try to ensure this does not happen again. However, I believe to fully protect our citizens' public 114 115 drinking water from cyanotoxins, it is imperative that 116 Federal, State, and local governments work together to better 117 understand the science and human effects of cyanobacteria and 118 cyanotoxins, as well as the best utilization of available

119 testing, monitoring, and treatment technology. 120 I am confident, by working together, we can accomplish this. I look forward to today's hearing, and hearing from 121 122 our witnesses on what types of strategies, actions U.S. EPA 123 would take to close these gaps and improve human health and 124 environmental protection. And with that, Mr. Chairman, I 125 would yield back my time, and also I would ask that I have a letter from the Ohio Farm Bureau that I would like to have 126 127 inserted into the record. 128 [The prepared statement of Mr. Latta follows:] 129 ******* COMMITTEE INSERT *********

Mr. {Shimkus.} And, with that, I--to turn to Ranking 133 Member Paul Tonko for 5 minutes for an opening statement. 134 135 Mr. {Tonko.} Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and good morning 136 to each and everyone. Thank you again, Mr. Chair, for 137 scheduling a hearing on what I believe is a very important 138 topic. Water is an essential resource. It has no 139 substitute. Although 70 percent of the planet's surface is 140 covered with water, only a small fraction of that is of 141 sufficient quality to serve our needs. 142 Much of the Eastern half of the United States is blessed 143 with ample freshwater resources, and no region is more well-144 endowed than the areas bordering the Great Lakes. The Great 145 Lakes contain 21 percent of the Earth's surface freshwater 146 supply, and 84 percent of the United States' surface 147 freshwater supply. We share these resources with Canada, and 148 they are vitally important to the wellbeing and economic 149 fortunes of over 30 million people living within the eight 150 states of our nation, and province of Ontario. 151 importance of this resource cannot be understated. We must 152 protect it.

153 I am reminded by my colleague, Representative Kapstur--154 Kaptur about the importance of water quality, and the impact 155 on her area with this issue. The algal bloom that resulted 156 in Toledo's residents losing the use of their tap water is 157 not a new problem. In part because Lake Erie is the 158 shallowest lake, with the warmest waters, algal blooms have 159 been a well-known problem for decades. Investments made in 160 better sewage treatment and control of point sources in the 161 1960s and 1970s improved the situation for a time. But the 162 steady input of nutrients from agricultural operations, especially from the Miami Watershed, expanded populations of 163 164 invasive species, and changes in weather patterns have 165 continued to fuel harmful algal blooms. 166 We cannot do much about the weather patterns, but we can do much better in managing nutrient inputs and invasive 167 168 species. Mr. Donahue points out in his testimony that the 169 cost of these blooms, and for treating water to remove the 170 resulting toxins, is falling on the water utilities and their 171 That is true, but the cost of these algal bloom customers. 172 events are even larger than that, and they are also falling 173 on other individuals and businesses that rely on a clean,

174 bloom free Lake Erie to support tourism, to support 175 recreation, to support fisheries, and other activities. 176 The International Joint Commission released a report 177 this past February with 16 recommendations for action by the 178 governments of the states and province within the Great Lakes 179 The report identifies phosphorus loading as a key 180 driver for the increased intensity and frequency of harmful 181 algal blooms in Lake Erie. Seven of the recommendations 182 specifically target phosphorus nutrient loading from 183 agricultural lands. This is the largest unchecked input of 184 nutrients to the lake. 185 Farmers do not wake up every morning with a plan to 186 cause algal blooms in Lake Erie, or any of the other water 187 bodies that are experiencing this problem, but it is 188 happening as a result of farming practices, and the problem needs to be addressed. Agriculture is important to this 189 190 region, and to our nation, and agriculture also relies on a 191 good supply of water. The goal here is to strike an 192 appropriate balance that keeps farms economically viable and 193 productive, but reduces the transport of soil and nutrients 194 off the land. There is no denying that agriculture practices

195 result in nutrient runoff at levels that cannot continue if 196 we are to get these blooms under control. 197 The good news is that our land grant universities, the 198 Natural Resource Conservation Service, and others have 199 developed best management practices that can be adopted to achieve some of the needed reduction. And EPA has been 200 201 working with states of the Chesapeake Watershed to implement 202 basin-wide nutrient management plans to address similar 203 problems that we have noted in the Chesapeake Bay. Nutrients 204 that are coming off of fields are not benefitting anyone. 205 Better nutrient management will not only benefit water 206 quality, it will benefit farming also. 207 Until we get these blooms under control, we are going to need better information for water utilities and the public 208 209 about the toxicity of these blooms. But to truly ensure the 210 safety of drinking water--drinking water supplies, we will 211 need to take serious steps to correct the source of the 212 problem. These blooms not only jeopardize public drinking 213 water supplies, they result in dead zones due to lack of 214 oxygen when the blooming organisms die, and sink to the bottoms of lakes and estuaries. 215

```
216
          Ultimately, it is less expensive to prevent pollution
217
     than it is to clean it up. This problem is not unique to
218
     Lake Erie. It is happening in other places as well. We are
219
     all dependent upon clean water supplies, and we all must work
220
     together to better manage these vital resources. Maintaining
221
     safe drinking water available to every household through the
222
     tap is one of the conveniences that define a modern society.
223
     We cannot compromise on that quarantee.
224
          We have an excellent panel of witnesses before us today.
225
     I look forward to hear your testimony, and I thank you for
     participating in this very important hearing. And, Mr.
226
227
     Chair, I hope we will be able to spend time over the next 2
228
     years finding a way to address the backlog of drinking water
     infrastructure needs that we have in communities across this
229
230
     great country. I would welcome an opportunity to work with
231
     you, and other members of the committee, on this important
232
     issue in the next Congress. And with that I yield back, and
233
     thank you again.
234
          [The prepared statement of Mr. Tonko follows:]
```

235 ******** COMMITTEE INSERT *********

Mr. {Shimkus.} Gentleman yields back his time. Any
other member seeking time for an opening statement? Seeing
none, we would like to welcome Dr. Peter Grevatt from--he is
the director of Office and Groundwater and Drinking Water at
the United States Environmental Protection Agency. Welcome,
sir. You have 5 minutes. We are not going to be draconian
on time, and then we will go to questions. So, welcome.

```
^STATEMENT OF DR. PETER GREVATT, DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF GROUND
243
     WATER AND DRINKING WATER, U.S. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
244
245
     AGENCY
246
          Mr. {Grevatt.} Yes, sir, thank you. Good morning,
247
     Chairman Shimkus, Ranking Member Tonko, and members of the
248
     subcommittee. Thank you for the opportunity to testify on
249
     EPA's activities to address harmful algal blooms and their
250
     impact on drinking water supplies. Today I will discuss the
251
     health effects of cyanobacteria and cyanotoxins, the incident
252
     in Toledo this summer, authorities under the Safe Drinking
253
     Water Act, and strategies for preventing harmful algal
254
     blooms.
255
          Cyanobacteria are found naturally in surface waters, and
256
     can rapidly multiply, causing harmful blooms. Factors that
257
     enhance bloom formation include light intensity, nutrient
258
     availability, water temperature, and water column stability.
259
     Some species of cyanobacteria produce toxic compounds known
     as cyanotoxins. High levels of cyanotoxins in recreational
260
261
     waters, and drinking water, may cause a wide range of adverse
```

262 health effects in humans, including fever, diarrhea, 263 vomiting, and allergic reactions. 264 While the risk associated with low levels of cyanotoxins in drinking water is uncertain, the effects reported 265 266 following exposure suggest that this is an important issue 267 for us to address. Communities on Western Lake Erie, including Toledo, remain vulnerable to emergency shutdowns 268 269 from harmful algal blooms. 270 On the morning of August 2, Toledo Mayor Collins issued a don't drink or boil advisory to the nearly 500,000 271 272 customers in response to the presence of microcystin in the 273 city's drinking water, leading to the declaration of a state 274 of emergency by the governor, and mobilization of the Ohio 275 National Guard to provide emergency drinking water supplies. 276 The presence of the toxin was due to a harmful algal bloom near Toledo's intake on Lake Erie. The U.S. EPA 277 performed sample analyses to confirm the concentrations of 278 279 algal toxins, and worked with the State of Ohio and the City 280 of Toledo to identify the optimal approach for controlling 281 the toxins at the utility. When treatment adjustments led to

the reduction on cyanotoxin concentrations, Mayor Collins

283 lifted the advisory on Monday, August 4. 284 Currently there are no U.S. Federal regulations 285 concerning cyanotoxins in drinking water. The Safe Drinking 286 Water Act establishes a number of tools, including health 287 advisories, the contaminant candidate list, and the 288 Unregulated Contaminant Monitoring Rule to develop regulatory 289 and non-regulatory approaches to addressing contaminants in 290 drinking water. EPA is preparing health advisories for 291 microcystin and cylindrospermopsin, two cyanotoxins commonly 292 associated with harmful algal blooms. 293 The health advisories will establish concentrations of 294 drinking water contaminants below which adverse health 295 effects are not anticipated to occur, as well as provide 296 states, and municipalities, and other local officials with 297 technical guidance on sampling, analytical procedures, and 298 drinking water treatment recommendations to protect public 299 health. We expect to finalize these health advisories in 300 2015. 301 EPA's contaminant candidate list identifies unregulated contaminants that are known or anticipated to occur in public 302

water systems which may require regulation. The EPA uses

304 this list to prioritize research and data collection efforts. 305 My office has listed several cyanobacteria and cyanotoxins on 306 the three contaminant lists that have been developed. 307 EPA uses the unregulated contaminant monitoring rule to 308 collect data for contaminants that do not have primary 309 drinking water standards, and are suspected to be present in 310 drinking water. A lack of standardized analytical methods 311 for individual cyanotoxins has prevented EPA from including 312 them in the current and previous rounds of the unregulated 313 contaminant monitoring rule. The agency is currently 314 developing specific analytical methods for microcystins, anatoxin-a, and cylindrospermopsin. EPA expects these 315 316 methods to be available in 2015 in time to consider including 317 several cyanotoxins in the fourth unregulated contaminant 318 monitoring rule. Monitoring for the fourth round of UCMR 319 will begin in 2018. 320 While monitoring and treatment are critical for 321 providing safe drinking water, this year's incident in Toledo 322 illustrates the difficulties of removing those contaminants 323 at the treatment plant. Shortly after the Toledo incident, EPA redirected \$12 million in Great Lakes Restoration 324

325	Initiative funding to Federal and State agencies to
326	strengthen ongoing efforts to target harmful algal blooms in
327	Western Lake Erie. Continued source water protection
328	efforts, and adequate investment in our nation's
329	infrastructure, will be necessary to prevent events such as
330	the one in Toledo in the future.
331	Once again, Chairman Shimkus, Ranking Member Tonko, and
332	members of the subcommittee, thank you for the opportunity to
333	discuss EPA's work on cyanotoxins in drinking water, and I
334	look forward to answering any questions you may have.
335	[The prepared statement of Mr. Grevatt follows:]

336 ************** INSERT A **********

```
337
          Mr. {Shimkus.} Thank you very much. First of all, I
     want to personally thank you for flying back, especially
338
339
     from--for today for the hearing in a town called New Orleans,
340
     so--New Orleans, D.C., 15 degrees versus whatever it was down
     there. We appreciate it.
341
342
          So--then I will recognize myself for 5 minutes for the
343
     first round of questions. Could you please -- and, you know, I
344
     kind of said some of this stuff in my opening statement, and
345
     you kind of reaffirmed this, just, for the record, how many
346
     cyanotoxins there are.
347
          Mr. {Grevatt.} So there are many dozens of cyanotoxins.
348
     There are over 40 cyanobacteria that can produce cyanotoxins,
     and there are in the range of 80 forms of microcystins alone,
349
     so there are many dozens of different cyanotoxins.
350
351
          Mr. {Shimkus.} So--and that was my next question.
     there are over 80 microcystins?
352
353
          Mr. {Grevatt.} Yes, sir.
          Mr. {Shimkus.} Are all cyanobacteria harmful?
354
          Mr. {Grevatt.} So cyanobacteria are capable--certainly
355
356
     some are capable of producing the toxins. It is the toxins
```

357 that are released from the bacteria that are harmful. And we 358 don't fully appreciate the specific conditions that lead 359 cyanobacteria to generate these toxins, so, you know, they aren't necessarily always harmful in every condition, but 360 361 certainly they are capable of producing very harmful 362 compounds. Mr. {Shimkus.} Do you know which cyanobacteria are 363 364 harmful in a drinking water context? 365 Mr. {Grevatt.} So the ones that we have been most concerned about are microcystis, and then the cyanobacteria 366 367 that also produce the anatoxin, the cylindrospermopsin, and 368 the saxitoxin. The ones that we are focused on currently at 369 EPA are the microcystin generated cyanobacteria, as well as 370 cylindrospermopsins and the anatoxins. 371 Mr. {Shimkus.} Is there a threshold level of exposure 372 of microcystin LR in drinking water at which the EPA has seen 373 adverse human impacts? 374 Mr. {Grevatt.} So there is no threshold level yet that 375 has been identified in humans. There has never been any 376 testing in humans to identify what a threshold level might

There certainly is the history with microcystins of--for

```
378 example, in Brazil in the '90s, there was a kidney dialysis
```

- 379 center that microcystins in their system that led to 50
- 380 deaths as a result of that treatment. So we know that
- 381 microcystins can, in certain circumstances, produce high
- 382 toxicity in humans. We don't know specifically what a
- 383 threshold level would be.
- Part of what our health advisory effort is designed to
- 385 do is to help identify a level below which we think exposure
- 386 would be safe.
- 387 Mr. {Shimkus.} And that Brazil case, was that over
- 388 time, or was it, like, identified, and then those deaths
- 389 occurred rapidly? Was that over time?
- 390 Mr. {Grevatt.} So I would have to get back to you on
- 391 the specifics of that case. All that I know is that that
- 392 clearly was defined as microcystin leading to 50 deaths. And
- 393 that was, of course, intravenous exposure, and at much higher
- 394 levels than what we might see--
- 395 Mr. {Shimkus.} Right.
- Mr. {Grevatt.} --in drinking water, but it tells us, at
- 397 least, this is a dangerous compound for humans.
- Mr. {Shimkus.} Right. Thank you. Many people have

```
399
    been using the terms like health advisory and standard
400
     interchangeably, but I am not sure that they are. So are
401
     these terms defined in the Safe Drinking Water Act?
402
          Mr. {Grevatt.} Yes, these terms are defined in the Safe
403
     Drinking Water Act. The health advisories were introduced in
     the 1996 amendments to the Act. These are non-regulatory
404
405
     levels, right, and they are really guidance values to help
406
     states and communities to quide their steps they might take
407
     in response to the presence of contaminant in drinking water.
408
    A standard, of course, is a regulatory value that drinking
409
    water systems must meet.
410
          Mr. {Shimkus.} Thank you. When EPA issues a health
411
     advisory, what types of information does it address, and what
     level of detail?
412
413
          Mr. {Grevatt.} Right. So there are several pieces of
414
     the health advisory that will--pieces of information that
415
    will be included. The first is discussing the environmental
416
    properties of the compound the health advisory is focused on.
417
     The second is identifying sampling and analytical techniques
     that are available for that compound.
                                            The third is
418
419
     identifying the safe level for that compound. Then the last,
```

- 420 very important, piece is identifying treatment technologies
- 421 that are available to remove that compound from drinking
- 422 water systems.
- 423 Mr. {Shimkus.} Yeah, and that is what my follow-up was-
- 424 -my follow-up was do you recommend testing methods in these?
- 425 And you did talk about treatment a little bit.
- 426 Mr. {Grevatt.} Right. So we are currently in the
- 427 process of developing a new analytical method for
- 428 microcystin, and cylindrospermopsin, and anatoxin. And so
- 429 these methods will help us to be able to define specifically
- 430 much lower levels of these toxins in drinking water. You are
- 431 probably aware that many systems in states across the country
- 432 currently use a screening level method known as the Elisa
- 433 Method. That is certainly what was used in Toledo, and by
- 434 the State of Ohio. It is a very useful method. The one we
- 435 are developing is going to be very specific for individual
- 436 microsystem--
- 437 Mr. {Shimkus.} Thank you very much. I yield back the
- 438 remainder of my time, and turn my--Ranking Member Mr. Tonko
- 439 for 5 minutes.
- 440 Mr. {Tonko.} Thank you, Mr. Chair. Doctor, we have

441 heard today about actions that can be taken to address 442 harmful algal blooms in the short and long term. Some may 443 believe that the solution to this drinking water problem is a 444 standard for microcystin, the toxin released by these 445 organisms. But that would require water utilities to treat 446 the symptom of harmful algal blooms, instead of addressing 447 the underlying root causes. One tool for addressing these 448 causes that cannot be overlooked is the regulation of 449 nutrient pollution. 450 Excessive amounts of nitrogen and phosphorous in water 451 sources from agricultural storm water and waste water runoff 452 fuel rapid algal growth. Algae's rapid reproduction outpaces 453 that of other organisms, overtaking entire ecosystems. 454 they die, sink to the bottom, and decompose, an oxygen-free 455 dead zone, as you know, is the result. 456 So, Dr. Grevatt, how are elevated nutrient levels in 457 water sources like Lake Erie contributing to harmful algal 458 blooms and toxic contamination of our water sources? 459 Mr. {Grevatt.} Thank you. So we understand clearly that there are several factors that contribute to the growth 460 461 of harmful algal blooms, certainly one of those is nutrients,

- 462 and we believe that a solution to this problem requires 463 attention both on source water protection, as well as 464 infrastructure in the drinking water treatment facilities, that without both of those steps it would be very difficult 465 466 to manage this problem. 467 Mr. {Tonko.} And what authority does your office have 468 under the Safe Drinking Water Act and the Clean Water Act to 469 prevent non-point source nutrient pollution from entering our 470 drinking water sources? 471 Mr. {Grevatt.} Right. So, under the Safe Drinking 472 Water Act, which my office is solely responsible for 473 implementing, there is a requirement for states to produce 474 source water assessments, which was completed. This was in 475 the 1996 amendments. Every state has completed this task. There are no further requirements for source water 476 477 protection, but certainly we encourage states and local communities to work together to address the sources of 478 479 pollution that can create these sorts of problems in drinking 480 water supplies.
- 481 Clean Water Act is not an authority that my office
 482 implements, but certainly there are a number of provisions

```
483
     focusing on issues like non-point source pollution. We have
484
     the 319 grants, and a number of other activities that we have
485
     been advancing, along with partners at the Federal level to
486
     address sources pollution.
487
          Mr. {Tonko.} And, in your view, is it important to
488
     address nutrient pollution in addition to addressing the
489
     cyanotoxins in drinking water?
490
          Mr. {Grevatt.} Without question. I think it would be
491
     very difficult. If we don't do that, what will happen is
492
     that we are putting all the burden on the drinking water
493
     systems to remove the toxins from the source water, and we
494
     saw in the case of Toledo that that can be a difficult thing
495
     to achieve. And so we believe it is important to address
496
     both the sources that are contributing to the growth of the
497
     algal blooms, as well as making sure that the treatment
498
     systems are up to the very tip-top shape so they can remove
499
     these pollutants from the drinking water.
500
          Mr. {Tonko.} And the treatment systems are available,
501
     or do they need to be further developed?
502
          Mr. {Grevatt.} So the treatment systems are--treatment
```

techniques are available to remove algal toxins and

```
504
     cyanobacteria from drinking water supplies, but it is not
505
     necessarily a simple and straightforward task. And so that
506
     is part of the reason why we think we really have to address
     both issues--
507
          Mr. {Tonko.} Um-hum.
508
          Mr. {Grevatt.} --currently.
509
510
          Mr. {Tonko.} And is drinking water contamination the
511
     only problem associated with these blooms?
512
          Mr. {Grevatt.} So there are a number of issues. I
513
     think you are -- not many of you are familiar with concerns
514
     associated with recreational use of water, so--children and
515
     families at bathing beaches, if there are harmful algal
516
     blooms, can be exposed, and, in some cases, sickened by those
517
     blooms. Certainly we see issues with livestock and pets who
518
     have been poisoned as a result of harmful algal blooms.
519
     as well, as you mentioned, the blooms can contribute to
520
     hypoxic situations in lakes and reservoirs, and that can
521
     create an whole other set of issues that are separate from
522
     the drinking water concerns.
523
          Mr. {Tonko.} Another important tool is to ensure
```

adequate protections for seasonal streams, wetlands, and

525 other water with significant connections to downstream 526 waters. The regulatory statue of these waters--the 527 regulatory of these waters under the Clean Water Act is often 528 misunderstood. EPA and the United States Army Corps of 529 Engineers recently proposed to clarify the definition of 530 waters of the United States under the Clean Water Act to 531 eliminate confusion, and ensure that these waters are 532 protected. 533 The recent report that I cited earlier included a 534 recommendation to restore wetland areas, and increase them by 535 10 percent, and the Western Lake Erie Basin is one of the 536 ways to address algal blooms in the lake. What is the 537 function of these small streams, wetlands, and other water 538 bodies, and why are they important to our ecosystem? 539 Mr. {Grevatt.} Right. Thank you. So, I want to be 540 clear, again, that my office doesn't implement the Clean 541 Water Act, but certainly it is the case that it is very 542 difficult to protect a body of water like Lake Erie without 543 addressing the pollutants that are flowing into the water 544 from other streams and rivers, and so I think it is a very 545 important issue to think about comprehensively.

```
Mr. {Tonko.} Thank you. With that, I yield back, Mr.
547
     Chair.
548
          Mr. {Shimkus.} Gentleman yields back his time. Chair
     now recognizes the gentleman from Ohio, Mr. Latta, for 5
549
550
     minutes.
551
          Mr. {Latta.} Well, thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, I
552
     really appreciate it. And, Director, again, thank you again
553
     for being here. And, again, as the Chairman said, thanks
554
     very much for coming back from New Orleans to be with us
     today to be at the subcommittee hearing, because it is very
555
     important to our region of the state, but also, you know,
556
557
     what is going to come out of your office in the near future
558
     is important to everyone.
559
          And as we look at the, you know, the -- how obviously
     important it is that we understand the extent of the problem
560
561
     that we have, and I know I really appreciated the opportunity
     to sit down with you earlier this fall to go through what had
562
563
     happened, and also some of the issues that you are facing on
564
     peer review in getting that information together, what do you
     believe today are the largest gaps that we have in the health
565
566
     effects on the cyanotoxins are, and those gaps?
```

567 Mr. {Grevatt.} Right, thank you. So there are a number of different cyanotoxins, as I mentioned. There are some 568 569 that we understand much better than others. Perhaps the best 570 studied is the microcystin cyanotoxin that was the issue 571 within the City of Toledo drinking water system. And that is 572 one of the health advisories that we will be developing, 573 along with cylindrospermopsin. 574 Probably the largest data gaps we have, in terms of 575 toxicity, is the effects at very low levels of exposure. So 576 there are a number of studies that have been generated in 577 animals that look at issues like liver toxicity, and 578 reproductive toxicity associated with microcystin exposure, 579 but those studies aren't perfect. We had been, as I 580 mentioned, generating a health advisory for microcystin, and 581 we have subjected that draft health advisory to two rounds of 582 independent external peer review, and we are using the 583 feedback from the peer reviewers to make sure that we are 584 taking the best approaches to incorporate the information 585 from these studies, and the health advisory. And we will 586 have that health advisory available in the spring of next 587 year.

```
588
          Mr. {Latta.} You know, when you are talking about the--
589
     on a peer review, and maybe -- as we talked earlier. Could you
590
     go into just a little bit about -- it is kind of difficult
591
     because of the technical nature of this, and the expertise
592
     that is required, and the folks that you have to find to be
593
     able to conduct this peer review?
          Mr. {Grevatt.} That is right. So what we will
594
595
     typically do at EPA--when I say independent external, what I
596
     mean by that is we will hire a contractor to identify
597
     scientists who are not connected with the agency to review
598
     our work and give us feedback independent of us. We don't
599
     choose the scientists who review our work. They give us the
600
     feedback, and then we look at how we interpret and
601
     incorporate their advice on how we finalize these health
602
     advisories.
603
          But we are looking at studies, typically in animals, and
604
     we have to try and understand what those studies tell us
605
     about the potential risks for humans. And that is part of
606
     the reason why it is so important to have the peer review, to
607
     have the advice about how best to do that.
```

Mr. {Latta.} Okay. And as we know, that Ohio, and some

```
609
     of the other states, if I am not mistaken from our
610
     conversation, only about six other states are out there that
611
     are using surface water, or have some type of a standard in
     place, and we are using, you know, how--the World Health
612
613
     Organization standard. And, you know, when you are looking
614
     at your health advisory that you are working on for next year
615
     releasing, when was it that you all first decided at EPA that
616
     you needed to really have that standard in place?
617
          Mr. {Grevatt.} We decided that we needed to put a
618
     health advisory in place well before the Toledo incident, so
619
     we have been working on this throughout the last year, and
620
     even before. And we are working closely with Health Canada
621
     and a number of states in this effort to make sure that we
622
     are using the best available data in the best way.
623
          Mr. {Latta.} And when you are talking about that is -- in
624
     the last year, when did you -- when you started looking at
     that, was there a reason that you hadn't started working on
625
626
     it sooner, or is it something that has just been coming up?
     Or what was the reasoning behind that?
627
          Mr. {Grevatt.} Right. It is an excellent question, and
628
```

there are two issues that have been challenging related to

630 cyanotoxins. One has been the absence of analytical methods 631 that are specific for individual cyanotoxins. And you 632 remember I mentioned there are over 80 conjurers of microcystin that have different levels of toxicity. And the 633 634 second is that the data set on toxicity has not been all that 635 robust. 636 There have been some additional studies that have been 637 generated, and, in fact, the World Health Organization value, 638 which about 12 countries around the world use today, and a 639 number of states use, that is based on a 1999 study, and it 640 is a 2003 guidance value that was generated, and so we felt 641 it was important to update that science. I think we have 642 heard from you, and many of your colleagues, about how 643 important it is to have a Federal health advisory in place, 644 rather than relying on something from the World Health 645 Organization. 646 Mr. {Latta.} And in my remaining time, would that also 647 include -- an advisory, would that also -- for -- would EPA issue 648 for other separate types of algal--or not algal blooms, but algal toxins? Would there be one, or would you have several 649 650 different types of advisories that you would have out there?

- Mr. {Grevatt.} We will have two health advisories, one
- 652 for microcystin, and a second for cylindrospermopsin. Those
- 653 are the two that we are focused on right now. So there will
- 654 be two documents that will come out. They will both include
- 655 information on health effects, treatment technologies, and
- 656 analytical procedures for sampling these compounds.
- Mr. {Latta.} Okay. Well, thank you very much, and,
- 658 again, thank you very much for being here. And, Mr.
- 659 Chairman, I yield back the balance of my time.
- Mr. {Shimkus.} Gentleman's time has expired. Chair now
- 661 recognizes the gentleman from West Virginia, Mr. McKinley,
- 662 for 5 minutes.
- Mr. {McKinley.} Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you
- 664 for--Congressman Latta for bringing this to our attention. I
- don't think 5 minutes is going to be enough for me, but let
- 666 me see where we can go with this.
- Why Lake Erie? Is this--what made it unique? Because
- 668 the same toxins, or same nutrients are coming into the water
- 669 in Superior and Lake Michigan. Why--the--and is--am I
- 670 accurate--I was told that the--they--they are doing dredging
- 671 near the port in Toledo. So I didn't hear that come up as a

```
672
     possibility of something that could be contributing, because
     you would have nutrients absorbed into the sediment that
673
674
     would be disturbed. Do you consider that possibly part of
     the uniqueness of why western Erie was a factor?
675
676
          Mr. {Grevatt.} Thank you. So clearly there are a
677
     number of issues that contribute to the growth of harmful
678
     algal blooms. We understand that nutrients are a very
679
     important factor. We also understand that the warmth of the
680
     water is an important factor. Availability of light is an
681
     important factor. And these issues come together in western
     Lake Erie, being a very shallow area, one of the most shallow
682
683
     areas of the Great Lakes, that has large nutrient inflows, as
     well as having very warm water temperatures. And also
684
685
     relatively stable water, without a whole lot of flows, can
     also contribute. And so that is -- all those factors are
686
687
     present within western Lake Erie.
688
          We should be clear that there are many, many lakes and
689
     reservoirs across the United States that are being impacted
690
     by harmful algal blooms today, and many states across the
691
     U.S. that have similar factors of nutrient in--
```

Mr. {McKinley.} But what about--

```
693
          Mr. {Grevatt.} --shallow water.
694
          Mr. {McKinley.} -- the dredging? Could that be--how do
695
     you take that into consideration?
696
          Mr. {McKinley.} Thank you. So certainly there are a
697
     lot of nutrients in the Lake Erie system today. Some of
698
     those are contained within the dredge spoils, and there are
699
     some who believe that the dredging may be a contributing
700
     factor, if they are releasing nutrients into the water
701
     column, and also supporting, then, the growth of the algae.
702
          Mr. {McKinley.} What about the zebra mussel that was
703
     introduced? I understand that also potentially has a
704
     contributing factor.
705
          Mr. {Grevatt.} That is an excellent question, and a
706
     number of my colleagues within the Great Lakes states are
707
     focused on issues, including invasive species. The thinking
708
     that some have shared is that zebra mussels may contribute to
709
     the growth of harmful algal blooms, cyanobacteria, by
710
     essentially competitively eliminating the native species of
711
     algae, and giving the cyanobacteria a greater opportunity to
712
     use the nutrients that are available to grow and create
713
     blooms.
```

714 Mr. {McKinley.} All right. So--and then go back down 715 to the fundamental, it sounds like we are reacting, rather 716 than anticipatory. How are they testing for this? Is there 717 just--under the normal water treatment, does it remove the 718 bacteria, and someone--some--something showed up on a test 719 that was unique that -- after the fact that we had been using 720 this water for some time? How would--how did that--does our 721 conventional treatment take care of this problem? 722 Mr. {Grevatt.} Our conventional treatment technologies can take care of the problem, but it is not a simple task to 723 724 do, you know, so there are issues. For example, the 725 microsystems, the toxins, are frequently found within the 726 cells, the cyanobacteria cells. If one inadvertently breaks 727 open the cells in the treatment technology, they can actually make the problem worse. So it is not a simple task to remove 728 729 the cyanotoxins from drinking water with standard treatment 730 techniques. 731 Harmful algal blooms are not a new problem. They are a 732 problem that was present even decades ago, when I was growing 733 in Cleveland, on Lake Erie. There were issues with harmful

algal blooms on the lake at that time, in the 1960s. We made

```
735
     progress, and we see them now coming back for reasons that we
736
     may not fully understand, all the different factors that are
737
     contributing to that.
738
          One of the activities that we put in place at EPA over
739
     the last several years was a national lakes assessment that
740
     characterized the conditions of the nation's lakes and
     reservoirs, and that assessment sampled for cyanobacteria and
741
742
     for microcystin, and helped to identify the extent of the
743
     problem across the U.S., and I think contributed, in some
744
     ways, to the awareness of some states, like the State of Ohio
745
     and others, to the issues that need to be addressed.
746
          Mr. {McKinley.} Okay, but that just--there are a lot of
747
     communities -- I don't want to look at the Toledos, and the
748
     Clevelands, and the Bostons, and--but what about the small
749
     communities, or rural America? How do--are they going to be
750
     equipped to be able to do the same water testing that
751
     Cleveland does, or St. Louis?
752
          Mr. {Grevatt.} This is a really important--a very
     important issue, and you may be aware that, not in 2014, but
753
```

in 2013 Carroll Township, a community of 4,000 on western

Lake Erie, shut down for several days as a result of algal

754

756 toxins within their system. Carroll Township was able to 757 hook up to a neighboring community to get pure water provided 758 to their customers, but that may not always be the case. 759 you are right that that is going to be a significant 760 challenge for small communities. 761 Within our program, our State Drinking Water Revolving 762 Loan Fund is focused on providing resources especially to 763 small communities. So we provide resources to small, medium, 764 and large communities, but especially focused on small 765 communities to help them address these sorts of issues. 766 Mr. {McKinley.} Okay. I have run over my time. Thank 767 you very much. 768 Mr. {Shimkus.} Thank you, and I also want to highlight this. You work with the State Revolving Loan Fund. I have 769 770 got a large rural area, and that has been a very successful 771 program. It has been very helpful to my community, so--772 seeing--is there any other questions from colleagues present? 773 Seeing none, again, we want to thank you for making your trip 774 This is an important issue. We want to keep our eye 775 on it, and work with everything, and stakeholders, to try to

make sure that we can do what is in the best interest to

- 777 protect the water supply for our constituents and our
- 778 citizens. So thank you very much, and with that, I will
- 779 dismiss the first panel, and we will empanel the second one.
- 780 And we want to welcome, as the second panel--in the
- 781 order at the table, we will have--we have the Honorable Craig
- 782 Butler, who is director of Ohio Environmental Protection
- 783 Agency. We have Mr. John Donahue, general manager at North
- 784 Park Illinois Public Water District, on behalf of the
- 785 American Water Works Association. And last, but not least,
- 786 Ms. Lynn Thorp, national campaigns director of the Clean
- 787 Water Action. Welcome.
- 788 Your full statements will be submitted for the record.
- 789 You will have 5 minutes. It is a--as you see, it is kind of
- 790 a laid back day, so we are not going to be, again, brutal on
- 791 time, but if we can get to questions eventually, that would
- 792 be great. And I also want to thank--Mr. Grevatt is still
- 793 sitting here, which I think is very important, and thank you
- 794 for attending for a little bit longer.
- 795 So with that, Mr. Butler, you are recognized for 5
- 796 minutes.

```
797
     ^STATEMENTS OF THE HONORABLE CRAIG W. BUTLER, DIRECTOR, OHIO
     ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY; JOHN DONAHUE, GENERAL
798
799
     MANAGER, NORTH PARK (IL) PUBLIC WATER DISTRICT, ON BEHALF OF
     AMERICAN WATER WORKS ASSOCIATION; AND LYNN THORP, NATIONAL
800
     CAMPAIGNS DIRECTOR, CLEAN WATER ACTION
801
     802
     ^STATEMENT OF CRAIG W. BUTLER
803
          Mr. {Butler.} Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Ranking
804
     Member Tonko, rest of the members of the committee,
805
     Representative Latta also for the invitation today.
806
     appreciate it. I am Craig Butler, Director of Ohio EPA, and
807
     the Environmental Protection Agency, we appreciate the
808
     opportunity to offer testimony on the important subject of
809
     cyanotoxins, or harmful algal blooms, or sometimes we call
810
     them HABs, in our drinking water. The importance of this
811
     hearing, as we have heard today, cannot be highlighted more
812
     by the events of early August in Toledo, when nearly 500,000
813
     people were told not to drink the water due to presence of
814
     microcystin in public drinking water above an acceptable
```

815 level. Recommending the issuance of this was not taken 816 lightly, given the significance of the social and economic 817 impact. But in consultation with experts on my staff, a 818 decision had to be made to protect public health, and was 819 based on the best science available. 820 Ensuring that Ohio's 4,500 public water systems provide 821 safe drinking water is one of the most important responsibilities I have as director at Ohio EPA. 822 823 includes 125 systems using surface water, several of which 824 draw their water directly from Lake Erie. To do this, Ohio 825 implements and enforces drinking water standards and 826 regulations established by U.S. EPA. I believe U.S. EPA's 827 general regulatory approach is very robust, results in 828 scientifically defensible and feasible regulation. 829 In dealing HABs in Ohio drinking water supplies, we had 830 to short circuit this rigorous regulatory process out of 831 necessity. For example, in 2010, largely responsible to a 832 significant harmful algal bloom in Grand Lake St. Mary's in 833 Western Central Ohio, the state established a strategy to 834 identify and respond to the presence of toxins in water being used for recreation, and as a source of public drinking 835

836 water. Ohio has established sampling and analytical 837 protocols, and also public health advisory levels, for 838 several of the most commonly identified toxins. And while we worked with U.S. EPA on many of these issues, Ohio realized 839 840 we would need to lead the nation in many respects, and have 841 to go it alone, if you will, since a national regulatory 842 testing framework was not completed at that time. 843 With the technical assistance of U.S. EPA since, and the 844 Office of Water, and the Office of Research and Development, 845 which is located in Ohio, we are pleased, and have been able 846 to work with Toledo to ensure that their treatment plant was again operating properly, and able to provide Toledoans with 847 848 safe drinking water. 849 One of our lessons learned, if you will, and one of the 850 very first of many steps we took to combat harmful algal 851 blooms after the event in Toledo was to immediately make \$1 852 million available in grant funds for cyanobacteria testing 853 equipment to communities so water systems across the state 854 could, and can, conduct their own monitoring for the presence 855 of HABs. We believe this will enable them to more closely 856 monitor the source water for algal blooms, and rapidly

857 respond with any necessary treatment and adjustments. 858 We also made \$50 million available through zero interest 859 loans for enhanced water treatment and infrastructure, and 860 backup water sources at public water systems. And while not 861 directly related to drinking water, we also, at that time, 862 made \$100 million available to our wastewater treatment 863 systems across the state to help manage the issues about 864 nutrients being discharged from their waste treatment 865 systems. 866 Ohio EPA continues to coordinate with U.S. EPA regarding the health advisory we spoke of--heard Dr. Grevatt speak of 867 868 this morning about levels expected to be issues -- issued by 869 the U.S. EPA next spring, as well as the analytical 870 methodologies, and the effectiveness of various treatment 871 processes. We know they have accelerated this work, and we 872 applaud their efforts to provide more quidance to states. We have also been coordinating with other states through the 873 874 Association of State Drinking Water Administrators, and 875 concur with the comments contained in ASDWA's November 14, 876 2014 letter to this subcommittee. 877 Ohio EPA has been active in addressing HAB and drinking

878 water sources, but as I can tell you, these issues are very 879 complex. Many other states under similar circumstances, 880 although only about six have identified health advisory levels. Those levels are different, and based on a small set 881 882 of data and information about HABs. It is my belief that the 883 country would benefit from having a national dialogue, and 884 establishing a consistent set of national standards for all 885 to follow. 886 Specific elements of the national approach should 887 include a robust assessment of the health effects, and recommended health advisory levels not only for microcystin, 888 889 but also for other variants of microcystin, as well as other 890 common cyanotoxin. Second, standard analytical methods that 891 are reliable and selective, but also affordable, quidance on 892 the appropriate frequency of monitoring. Additional 893 information on the ecology of cyanobacteria, and more 894 guidance on the reliable treatment approach are necessary. 895 In the long term, however, we believe that the best approach is to protect public water supplies through a source 896 897 water protection plan, as well as preventing blooms via data driven targeted strategies to address nutrient pollution from 898

```
899
     not only agriculture, but other point sources, non-point
900
     sources, and other sources in general. As we are putting--
901
     and we are putting that into place in Ohio today. With the
902
     support of significant funding through the GLRI, or the Great
903
     Lakes Restoration Initiative, we have developed a coordinated
904
     strategy with the State's Department of Agriculture, Natural
     Resources, EPA, and Health to develop prescriptions for
905
906
     watersheds in the Lake Erie Basin to address nutrient
907
     pollution, based on data we have available.
908
          In summary, EPA takes very seriously the quality of
909
     water--drinking water supplied to our public water systems.
910
     Ohio has taken many proactive steps to address the issue. It
911
     is our strong belief that state and Federal leaders need to
912
     work closely together to quickly advance the science of
913
     detection and effective treatment. We stand ready in the
914
     State of Ohio to continue to lead in this effort, and we will
915
     gladly work with other states. I appreciate the opportunity
916
     to offer this testimony to the committee, and would be
917
     pleased to respond and answer any questions.
918
919
          [The prepared statement of Mr. Butler follows:]
```

920 ************ INSERT B *********

```
921 Mr. {Shimkus.} Thank you very much. I would like to
922 recognize Mr. John Donahue. Sir, again, you are recognized
923 for 5 minutes.
```

924 ^STATEMENT OF JOHN DONAHUE Mr. {Donahue.} Good morning, Chairman Shimkus, and 925 926 members of the subcommittee. My name is John Donahue, and I am the Chief Executive Officer of the North Park Public Water 927 928 District based in Machesney Park, Illinois. I deeply 929 appreciate this opportunity to offer input on the critical 930 issues surrounding algal bloom, cyanotoxins, and our nation's 931 sources of drinking water. I am here today on behalf of the 932 American Water Works Association, which I serve as president. 933 My remarks reflect the experiences and perspective of AWWA's 934 nearly 50,000 members. Established in 1881, AWWA is the world's oldest and largest non-profit scientific and 935 936 educational association dedicated to water. Our utility 937 members provide safe and affordable water every day to more 938 than 70 percent of the American population. 939 As you know, last August an algal bloom in western Lake 940 Erie resulted in the formation of a toxin known as microcystin, requiring the City of Toledo to issue a Do Not 941 Drink Advisory that affected more than 400,000 people. 942

943 formation of algal toxins is very complex, and not fully 944 understood. The same can be said for their possible human 945 health effects. But one thing is certain, this problem is 946 always associated with excessive amounts of nitrogen and 947 phosphorus in water. 948 According to the U.S. Geological Survey, non-point 949 sources, predominantly runoff and air deposition, account for 950 90 percent of the nitrogen and 75 percent of the phosphorous 951 in our waterways. The fairest and best strategy for reducing 952 the scope and severity of this problem in the future is 953 bringing non-point sources of nutrient pollution under more 954 effective management. At present, though, these sources lie 955 largely outside the jurisdiction of the Clean Water Act. 956 There are some Federal programs that do have a bearing on nutrients in our water, such as the conservation title of 957 958 the Farm Bill. However, these conservation programs are 959 voluntary in nature, in contrast to the clean water permit 960 programs, and they are not based upon the quality of 961 receiving waters, nor do they reflect the need to protect 962 downstream sources of drinking water.

Now, drinking water treatment technology does exist to

964 allow drinking water utilities to remove toxins produced by 965 algal blooms, however, this technology is very expensive to acquire and maintain. In addition, removing these toxins 966 967 after they occur does nothing to protect the ecosystem, and 968 the people within the watershed. As a utility manager, the 969 protection of public health is always my most important 970 priority, and the same is true for the American Water Works 971 Association. 972 Even before this summer's events, AWWA had taken steps to help water systems at risk from algal events. These 973 974 include developing and distributing information to assist 975 water systems, and anticipating and responding to source 976 water challenges, including cyanobacterial blooms and 977 cyanotoxins, prepare a water utility manager's quide to 978 cyanotoxins, which is now in its final review, encouraging 979 water systems to evaluate their circumstances to determine 980 whether they might have unrecognized cyanotoxin concern, and 981 to establish appropriate safeguards, and assisting water 982 systems with guidance and training in emergency preparedness 983 so that they have protocols in place to respond to events 984 like that experienced in Toledo.

985 Having said those things, utility managers can't solve 986 this problem on their own. We need Federal help. Federal agencies, including U.S. EPA, USDA, should include existing 987 988 authorities to give much higher priority to nutrient 989 reduction projects that protect downstream drinking water 990 supplies. For example, the Clean Water State Revolving Loan 991 Fund and Farm Bill conservation programs could be targeted 992 and used more effectively to reduce nutrient pollution, and 993 protect drinking water sources. 994 With regard to drinking water regulation, we support the 995 science-based standard setting process in the Safe Drinking 996 Water Act. EPA has indicated it will use the unregulated 997 contaminant monitoring rule process as the first step in 998 determining whether the regulation of cyanotoxins affords a 999 meaningful opportunity to protect public health, and we 1000 support that step. 1001 Finally, and perhaps most important, we ask that 1002 Congress consider ways to increase the effectiveness of non-1003 point source pollution programs. This should include 1004 discussing the question of whether non-point pollution should 1005 be brought under the jurisdiction of the Clean Water Act in

```
1006
     an appropriate way. It would not be equitable to put an
1007
     increasing burden on water systems and their customers to
1008
     solve this problem if the most significant sources of
1009
     nutrient pollution are not also asked to do more.
1010
           In closing, I want to thank the subcommittee for the
1011
     leadership that it is taking today in holding this hearing,
1012
     and I will be happy to answer any questions you may have,
1013
     either today or in the future.
                                      Thank you.
1014
           [The prepared statement of Mr. Donahue follows:]
1015
      ************ INSERT C **********
```

```
1016 Mr. {Shimkus.} Thank you very much. Now I would like
1017 to turn to Ms. Lynn Thorp, and you are recognized for 5
1018 minutes.
```

1019 ^STATEMENT OF LYNN THORP

1020 Ms. {Thorp.} Thank you, Chairman Shimkus, Ranking 1021 Member Tonko, and members of the subcommittee. My name is 1022 Lynn Thorp. I am the National Campaigns Director for Clean 1023 Water Action. We are a national organization working in 15 1024 states on a wide range of issues, including Safe Drinking 1025 Water Act implementation, and protecting drinking water 1026 sources. Clean Water Action urges the committee to support 1027 aggressive action to reduce the nitrogen and phosphorous or 1028 nutrient pollution that cause harmful algal blooms, which in 1029 turn produce cyanotoxins. To address cyanotoxins only 1030 through drinking water regulation and treatment is 1031 inadequate, and transfers the burden of pollution control to 1032 water systems and their consumers. Sources of nutrient 1033 pollution, as we have heard, include agriculture practice, 1034 storm water, sewer and septic systems, and fossil fuel use in 1035 various sectors. Population growth and climate change 1036 exacerbate the problem.

1037 As we have heard, some cyanotoxins produced by certain

1038 harmful algal blooms cause liver damage, nerve damage, and 1039 skin damage. Excessive nutrients contribute to the growth of 1040 these harmful algal blooms. But this pollution causes other 1041 drinking problems as well. The development of nitrate, 1042 development of increased disinfection byproducts, all of 1043 these lead to increased public health risks in drinking 1044 water, and costs for consumers. Nitrogen and phosphorous 1045 also cause other environmental problems, including dead zones 1046 and impaired water quality, and we know that nutrient 1047 pollution causes demonstrated economic losses in fishing, 1048 recreation, and water dependent businesses. 1049 EPA and some states have taken expeditious action to 1050 address cyanotoxins in drinking water. As we have heard, EPA 1051 has placed three cyanotoxins on the contaminant candidate 1052 list, an important Safe Drinking Water Act implementation 1053 step that will lead to the research we need to learn more and 1054 move on the path toward regulation. EPA is also conducting 1055 toxicity and human health assessments, developing drinking 1056 water health levels, and also developing laboratory methods 1057 so that we can measure cyanotoxins consistently. 1058 I want to note that EPA and states are conducting these

1059 activities in the face of stagnant and shrinking budgets, and 1060 possibly inadequate capacity to implement the Safe Drinking 1061 Water Act, and to reduce drinking water threats as 1062 aggressively as the public expects. EPA has the authority, under our nation's other landmark water law, the Clean Water 1063 1064 Act, to address nutrient pollution from all sources. Despite 1065 the agriculture exemptions in the Clean Water Act, progress 1066 can be made on addressing a significant source. 1067 There are other immediate opportunities, as we have 1068 heard, for EPA to help reduce nitrogen and phosphorous 1069 pollution. The proposed definition of waters of the United 1070 States under the Clean Water Act, which clarifies the 1071 protection of streams, wetlands, and other waters, is a good 1072 These water bodies are a vital part of our water example. 1073 infrastructure because they filter pollution, including 1074 nutrients, before it makes its way to downstream water 1075 bodies, often which service drinking water sources. 1076 In an upcoming Clean Water Act rulemaking limiting toxic 1077 water discharges from power plants, EPA has an opportunity to 1078 address 30 million pounds of nitrogen, and 682,000 pounds of 1079 phosphorous discharged by power plants annually into surface

```
1080
     water. As noted here earlier today, other Federal agencies,
1081
      including the USDA and states, can take significant action to
1082
     address nutrient pollution. Innovative partnerships can also
1083
     play a role. For example, the Source Water Collaborative is
1084
     made up of diverse stakeholders, including regulators,
1085
     drinking water utilities, planners, and environmental
1086
      organizations working together to advance drinking water
1087
      source protection at the local, state, and Federal levels.
1088
           The Safe Drinking Water Act's multi-barrier approach
1089
      starts with source water protection. Clean Water Action
1090
      likes to say we should put drinking water first, which means
1091
     making decisions about upstream activities with a focus on
1092
     preventing drinking water impacts downstream. This results
1093
     in better choices, which prevent other environmental and
1094
     economic impacts. This is certainly true when it comes to
1095
     nutrient pollution. Curbing nitrogen and phosphorous inputs
1096
     is the right choice for drinking water protection, and is the
1097
     multi-benefit approach.
1098
           [The prepared statement of Ms. Thorp follows:]
```

1099 ********** INSERT D ********

1100 Mr. {Shimkus.} Gentlelady yields back her time, and thank you very much. I will now recognize myself for 5 1101 1102 minutes for my round of questioning. 1103 First, to Director Butler, which stage would you say we 1104 are in right now on the state of the science of microcystin, 1105 particularly as it relates to health effects? 1106 Mr. {Butler.} Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Just recognize 1107 that I am not a scientist, like Dr. Grevatt, but--so I will 1108 give you my layman's understanding of it. So I would say 1109 that the -- a lot of work has been done, much more is needed, 1110 and I think much more quickly than has been advanced in the 1111 past, so that is why we have applauded Dr. Grevatt and U.S. 1112 EPA Research and Development office for accelerating the 1113 research about the health advisory levels for microcystin. 1114 We understand, and as you heard this morning, there are 1115 many different variants of microcystin, many different types 1116 of cyanobacteria that, frankly, we know very little, if not 1117 anything, about. Not just in terms of the nature of those, 1118 but also of the potential toxicity of those. So as we applaud the work that is advancing currently, we also would 1119

1120 recommend, and not want to lose sight of the fact that there 1121 are many other variants of microcystin and cyanobacterias 1122 that are not being studied that need additional study. 1123 Mr. {Shimkus.} And it is to no one's surprise that I am 1124 from one of the largest agricultural districts in the nation, 1125 and I know that good stewardship is important to them, filter 1126 strips, and now with incoming technology, the ability to 1127 really--I think a lot of people have a perspective that this 1128 stuff just gets sprayed, to the point where it just runs off. 1129 And new technology is available where they are going to be 1130 implementing either the herbicide, or the fertilizer, like, 1131 right -- almost specifically right upon the seed. So have you 1132 had discussions with the agricultural community in--some of 1133 these issues in dealing with the State of Ohio? 1134 Mr. {Butler.} Yes, Mr. Chairman. I think--one thing I just wanted to make clear, as we--since 2010, through Toledo, 1135 1136 and then continuing, this has been an issue that Governor 1137 Kasich has been active in, and we all have been. As I 1138 mentioned, we have a very close partnership with Departments 1139 of Agriculture and Natural Resources through the non-point 1140 source programs in Ohio, as well as Ohio EPA and the

1141 Department of Health, so we have continued to meet and work 1142 aggressively on this. 1143 One of the things that we had been working with is with 1144 the agricultural community, the Farm Bureau in Ohio and the 1145 agribusiness. They have some--implemented some programs. 1146 They have a healthy water initiative through the Farm Bureau, 1147 where they are doing a 20 to 30 year assessment. They have 1148 also invested several million dollars about--doing edge of 1149 field research, looking at transport of nutrients off of the 1150 fields and how that happens. We have recently been working 1151 with--through the monies that we received through the Great 1152 Lakes Restoration Initiative, we have been working to 1153 implement several programs of -- in the ag community, including 1154 cover crops, making grants available for farmers to do cover 1155 crops. 1156 But as you mentioned, the prescription application, the 1157 prescriptive--very precise, targeted implementation, we know 1158 that, much like no-till farming was many years ago, that 1159 equipment was very expensive. Farmers weren't used to--know 1160 how to use it. I think we are in that same phase now. 1161 is very expensive equipment that farmers can use to be very

1162 targeted in the application of fertilizer through GPS, other 1163 technologies, and think they are very willing to use it. 1164 is just, how do we train them to do that, and then help them 1165 purchase the equipment to do it? 1166 Mr. {Shimkus.} And I think one of the aspects will be 1167 immeasurable. How do you measure the success of the new 1168 techniques, and new farm activities, and get, you know, 1169 credit for the great work that is being done in that area? 1170 Mr. Donahue, cyanobacteria blooms, as I understand them, 1171 are not a new problem. To what do you attribute more 1172 frequently observation and reporting in most recent years? 1173 Mr. {Donahue.} Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would say 1174 that for public water systems, you know, we do see more 1175 frequency in these algal blooms in our receiving streams. 1176 Many more public water supplies are using surface water 1177 supplies as their source of drinking water, especially in the Midwest, as we have seen groundwater systems be depleted. 1178 1179 Certainly the increase in nutrient runoff has had an 1180 impact on our -- the quality of our source water, and, from 1181 that perspective, I think a relationship, or a partnership 1182 between the Safe Drinking Water Act and the Clean Water Act,

```
1183
      in order to help us better understand how those--how that
1184
     bacteria occurs in the receiving streams, and, ultimately,
1185
     what we can do to prevent it from getting into our drinking
1186
     water supply is something we should be looking at.
1187
           Mr. {Shimkus.} Thank you. There have been a lot of
1188
      concerns coming out of the Toledo experience on monitoring
      and testing procedures and equipment. Could you please speak
1189
1190
     to the feasibility and reliability of the available methods
1191
      for detection and treatment, and also speak to the viability
1192
     of--and the affordability of these?
1193
          Mr. {Donahue.} As far as the analytical processes, I am
1194
     not an expert in the analytical procedures. I do know that
1195
      there is some additional work needing to be done, as far as
1196
      standard method for the analysis of drinking water for
1197
      cyanobacteria. Regarding the cost for public water supplies,
1198
     certainly drinking water is an undervalued commodity today.
1199
     We spend a lot of money--we--our customers believe that they
1200
     have a -- the cost of their water supply--
1201
          Mr. {Shimkus.} You are choosing your words carefully.
1202
          Mr. {Donahue.} I am trying to. So water is undervalued
```

to the point where somebody would pay \$2.50 for a cup of

```
1204
      Starbucks coffee, but they might squawk at paying the same
1205
      amount of money for a 1,000 gallons of safe drinking water
      delivered right to their tap. So could some public water
1206
      supplies afford to increase their rates? Perhaps. But our
1207
1208
     position is that, in this case, it would be a bit unfair to
1209
     put all of the burden on the public water supplies in this
1210
     case without looking at the sources of the cyanobacteria in
1211
     the first place.
1212
          Mr. {Shimkus.} Thank you. My time is far expired, and
1213
      I apologize. Now turn to the Ranking Member, Mr. Tonko, for
1214
      5 minutes.
1215
          Mr. {Tonko.} Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr. Donahue, you
1216
      indicated in your testimony that tackling this problem at the
1217
      treatment plant is not sufficient. Does the American Water
1218
     Works Association support efforts to protect source water by
1219
      eliminating nutrient impact--inputs to drinking water
1220
      sources?
1221
           Mr. {Donahue.} We absolutely support anything that can
1222
     be done to prevent these nutrients from running off into our
1223
      receiving waters. I think what I said in my testimony,
```

though, is that the treatment processes are available that

- 1225 could remove cyanobacteria from the drinking water, but they
- 1226 are very expensive to acquire and maintain. Requiring
- 1227 communities to purchase advance drinking water technology and
- 1228 implement it without doing something at the source water
- 1229 level, we believe, would be a bit unfair.
- 1230 Mr. {Tonko.} Um-hum. And what are the costs to water
- 1231 utilities to adequately treat water to remove toxins from the
- 1232 algal blooms?
- 1233 Mr. {Donahue.} I don't have that information available
- 1234 to me this morning, but we would be happy to provide you with
- 1235 that at a future date.
- 1236 Mr. {Tonko.} And we have heard that small and seasonal
- 1237 streams and wetlands play a critical role in source water
- 1238 protection. That is the goal of the EPA/U.S. Army Corps
- 1239 proposal, to clarify the definition of waters of the U.S.
- 1240 Ms. Thorp, is the protection of these upstream waters and
- 1241 wetlands important for pollution reduction and to control
- 1242 harmful algal blooms?
- 1243 Ms. {Thorp.} Thank you, Ranking Member Tonko. Yes,
- 1244 indeed, it is. EPA has found, in its scientific analysis
- 1245 accompanying the proposed definition, that streams and

wetlands play a critical role in nutrient reduction.

- 1247 fact, they used--I believe the found the--scientific 1248 literature over the last several decades replete with 1249 evidence of this pollution filtering role. 1250 Mr. {Tonko.} Um-hum. And according to EPA, drinking 1251 water for over 117 million people comes from public water 1252 systems that rely, to some degree, on seasonal streams. And 1253 so, Ms. Thorp, if we do not protect the feeder creeks and 1254 upstream waters, is there an impact on drinking water quality 1255 for these communities? 1256 Ms. {Thorp.} Thank you. Yes, sir, we think so, and we 1257 think that number is a low estimate, because that was based 1258 on an analysis only of headwater streams and the public water
- 1260 But, of course, the impact of streams and wetlands, and their 1261 role in filtering pollution, including nutrient pollution, is

systems that serve what -- about a third of our population.

- 1262 much broader than that. It includes many people relying on
- 1263 private wells, for example.

1246

- 1264 Mr. {Tonko.} Um-hum. And, Mr. Donahue, if we don't do
- 1265 more to protect source waters, what does that mean for water
- 1266 utilities and their customers?

```
1267
           Mr. {Donahue.} Well, certainly that if we don't do
1268
      something to remove nutrients from source water before it
1269
      gets to the drinking water treatment plant, treatment
1270
      facilities will have no choice but to impose treatment
1271
      techniques that would remove those potential contaminants.
1272
     Our first priority is to protect public health, and if we
1273
     can't control that on the source side, then drinking water
1274
     utilities will have no alternative but to increase their
1275
     treatment capability, and the cost associated with that would
1276
     be transferred to our customers.
1277
           Mr. {Tonko.} You know, I hear about the seriousness of
1278
      this issue, and the toxicity that impacts society in general.
1279
     Hear about the--perhaps the misunderstood status of the
1280
      regulatory opportunities under the Clean Water Act. We are
1281
      also compounding the situation with climate change, a science
1282
      that oftentimes is ignored.
1283
           Some of the predictions for climate change impacts are
1284
      far--for far more extreme weather events, and altered weather
1285
                 This might include more intense rainfall events,
1286
     which--obviously cause for additional washing of these
1287
     nutrients into the system of toxic elements, warmer summers,
```

```
1288
     higher temperatures obviously being an impact here, longer
1289
     droughts, for example. Ms. Thorp, what impact would these
1290
     changes have on harmful algal blooms?
1291
          Ms. {Thorp.} Thank you, sir. I think a number of
1292
      impacts of extreme weather events and warming temperatures
1293
      can affect the problems we are talking about here.
1294
      example is that the growth of harmful algal blooms, and, in
1295
      fact, all algal blooms, is not completely understood, as we
1296
     have heard earlier today, but we know that warming
1297
     temperatures, as well as rainfall patters, can affect that
1298
      growth. We also know that excessive rainfall, for example,
1299
     can lead to increased nutrient runoff, which then is feeding
1300
      the problem in another way.
1301
          Mr. {Tonko.} Yeah. Mr. Donahue, were you looking at
1302
      that, that--
1303
          Mr. {Donahue.} No.
1304
          Mr. {Tonko.} Okay. All right. With that, I yield
1305
     back.
1306
          Mr. {Shimkus.} Gentleman yields back his time, and the
1307
     Chair now recognizes the gentleman from Ohio, Mr. Latta, for
```

1308

5 minutes.

```
1309
          Mr. {Latta.} Well, thanks again, Mr. Chairman, and
1310
      thanks again for having our hearing, and thanks to our panel
1311
      for being with us today. Really appreciate your time and
      expertise in this matter. And if I could--Director Butler,
1312
1313
      if I could ask you some questions right off the bat?
1314
           It was mentioned a little bit earlier that there are
1315
      several types of cyanotoxins of concerns just besides the
1316
     microcystins. Do you believe it would be helpful if the U.S.
1317
     EPA had a comprehensive list of cyanotoxins determined to be
1318
     harmful to human health in drinking water?
1319
          Mr. {Butler.} Mr. Chairman, Representative Latta, yes,
1320
     we do. We know that that would take a long term commitment
1321
      from U.S. EPA, and take an extensive period of time to do
1322
      that, particularly if they were to develop regulatory levels
1323
      about the harmful impacts for that. We are encouraged by the
1324
      acceleration to provide states with some additional
1325
      information and health advisory in 2015.
1326
           We think that will add to the body of research that is
1327
     out there, although we think that we need to continue to
1328
      accelerate, keep our foot on the gas, so to speak, about not
      only moving through 2018 with--moving with a regulatory
1329
```

1330 level, not only for those that U.S. EPA had identified, but 1331 also do not forget about the other cyanobacteria and harmful 1332 algal derivatives that are out there that also need 1333 attention. 1334 Mr. {Latta.} And also, you know, all the conversations 1335 we had during that first week of August, you know, when 1336 Toledo was having its crisis out there, in all that was going 1337 on, I know that -- you mentioned what the state has done, 1338 especially on funding from the U.S. -- or from the Ohio EPA. 1339 Because of the cost--because there was a significant amount 1340 of dollars here, when we are talking about the different 1341 types of testing that are going to be going--that could be 1342 done--and if you could just maybe go into all of it? Because 1343 I know that we are talking about, you know, the Elisa Method, 1344 and the LC-MS/MS test method that is being--that is more 1345 robust and efficient than the others, and being able to find 1346 different variants. 1347 But if you could just kind of go into that, because I 1348 found it pretty interesting, one, about the -- number one, the 1349 cost, two, about getting the equipment, and three, about finding the personnel, being able to just run that equipment. 1350

1351 And then, again, I think, you know, in the north end of Ohio 1352 we have about 140 plus systems out there that are utilizing 1353 surface water, and what that would entail for all of those 1354 communities. I know that is a long question. 1355 Mr. {Butler.} Mr. Chairman, Representative Latta, we 1356 have--exactly right. We have made a million dollars, as I 1357 mentioned in my testimony, available to--I think we have 125 1358 systems that are surface water systems in the State of Ohio, 1359 many of those which take water directly from Lake Erie. We 1360 came to that relative number of a million dollars because we 1361 wanted to offer this Elisa screening technology to all of 1362 That cost of doing that is about \$10,000, so a 1363 relatively modest amount of money. 1364 What you get from that, in my layman's terms, is you get 1365 a piece of technology that is a broad spectrum identifier, if 1366 you have microcystin in your water. It is not a piece of 1367 technology that helps speciate out which protective variant 1368 or congeners you have, or what kind of cyanobacteria you have 1369 got. It is -- if it is in there, it will tell you it is there, 1370 but it won't tell you which one it is, and it won't tell you whether it is one of those that may be harmful, or which ones 1371

1372 it may not be. 1373 So we think it is a great screening tool, and we think that a tiered approach would be most effective. If we are 1374 1375 going to move into a more detailed system, and you talked 1376 about the LC-MS/MS technology, Dr. Grevatt could tell you 1377 what all of that acronym means, but, in my view, what it will 1378 do is--it is a much more refined testing methodology that 1379 gets down and helps you identify what variant of 1380 cyanobacteria do you have, and whether or not it may be one 1381 that is harmful. That is also helpful. If you could use 1382 that as a--the Elisa Method to determine whether you have 1383 something to be concerned with, then you could rely on the 1384 LC-MS/MS technology to then figure out exactly what variant you have go hand in hand. The issue we have with the LC-1385 1386 MS/MS is--or the HPLC, which is another, is cost. 1387 Rather than \$10,000 for a piece of equipment of Elisa 1388 that a community--small community could run, do some--and 1389 learn how to--and learn that very quickly, the cost to us in 1390 the State of Ohio would be around \$400,000 for one piece of 1391 equipment. On top of that, you have the development of the method, which could take many months, 8 to 12 months to find 1392

```
1393
      the method. And then, for us, it is a cost concern about
1394
      just finding somebody that is capable of running it. It is a
     very specialized piece of equipment. Having somebody with
1395
1396
      the right degree and credential to be able to keep them on
1397
      staff and pay them, frankly, a state salary is very
1398
     difficult. So while we like that technology, we also don't
1399
     want to suggest that that be the only potential technology we
1400
     use.
1401
          Mr. {Latta.} If I could just follow up just briefly?
1402
     With that, how many communities could utilize one piece of
1403
      equipment?
1404
          Mr. {Butler.} Mr. Chairman, Representative Latta, that
1405
      is a good question. We have talked internally, and with U.S.
1406
     EPA, about whether the State of Ohio or communities could
1407
      group together. I think they could all--and we are seeing
1408
      that happen now, frankly. Some communities do not want to
1409
      take the grant monies from Ohio EPA, even for the $10,000 for
1410
      the Elisa technology, because they are very close to another
1411
      small neighborhood that is, or has the technology. They are
1412
     partnering together, sharing services, which we very much
      applaud in the state. Sharing those services, banding
1413
```

- 1414 together, and doing the testing.
- 1415 So it is conceivable, and we would encourage it, that
- 1416 there would be a way for many communities to band together
- 1417 and use an HPLC methodology. We could also help them,
- 1418 through our testing capabilities with the State of Ohio. I
- 1419 know U.S. EPA has this, as well as many universities too, so
- 1420 there are multiple options, so not every community would need
- 1421 to invest that time and money.
- 1422 Mr. {Latta.} Thank you. Mr. Chairman, I appreciate
- 1423 your indulgence in time, and I yield back.
- 1424 Mr. {Shimkus.} Gentleman's time has expired. Chair now
- 1425 recognize the gentleman from Mississippi, Mr. Harper, who
- 1426 will be the vice-chair of this subcommittee in the next
- 1427 Congress. We want to congratulate him on that, and you are
- 1428 recognized for 5 minutes.
- 1429 Mr. {Harper.} Thank you, Mr. Chair, and I want to thank
- 1430 the Chairman, and look forward to the next term, and I hope
- 1431 you will be pleased with that decision, so thank you. And
- 1432 glad to have the panelists here today, appreciate this. This
- 1433 is an important topic, important to many of us. And if I
- 1434 could start with Mr. Butler?

1435 And what is your expectation of how U.S. EPA should 1436 engage with the states before issuing its public health 1437 advisory? Mr. {Butler.} Mr. Chairman, Representative Harper, that 1438 1439 is a great question. What we have been encouraged by so far 1440 is the great working relationship we have got. We are very 1441 blessed to have the Office of Research and Development in 1442 Cincinnati. So them being able to help us in the Toledo 1443 situation was very helpful. In fact, we were flying samples 1444 down in the middle of the night, and their staff, you know, 1445 went to the airport to pick these samples up in the middle of 1446 the night, so it was just a great opportunity for us. 1447 have been encouraged since then. We have got a great working 1448 relationship. 1449 What our--and to answer your question directly, what we 1450 would prefer, and what we would like to see happen, is, as 1451 U.S. EPA--and we know they are on a very fast track to get this--us this health advisory information, but as they are 1452 1453 going through this process to engage states that are 1454 interested, or that need to be engaged in the development of that, rather than at the end, after they develop that, hold a 1455

```
1456
     public hearing and public comment period. So I know it is a
1457
     balance. We want to see this move along quickly and get the
      information, but we would prefer to be engaged up front,
1458
     because we think we have information to offer.
1459
1460
           Mr. {Harper.} And if I may ask, Mr. Butler, since the
1461
      algal problem in Toledo, is the Ohio EPA on much better
1462
      ground regarding testing protocols for microcystin?
1463
          Mr. {Butler.} Mr. Chairman, Representative, I think we
1464
      are. You know, we have learned a lot after working with
1465
     Toledo. We also have worked with all of our other surface
1466
     water systems, not only in terms of offering technology and
1467
      treatment, but we have developed, and have redefined, and
1468
      continue to redefine on a consensus basis, with all of our
1469
      surface water systems, statement of operations on how we--
1470
      everybody consistently manages tests for cyanobacteria.
1471
           Mr. {Harper.} You know, I am very pleased with your
1472
      earlier comments on the coordination between the Ohio EPA and
1473
     U.S. EPA of what you went through, and the--
1474
          Mr. {Butler.} Um-hum.
1475
          Mr. {Harper.} --that coordination that took place.
```

if we were looking overall, what improvements to government

1476

```
1477
     coordination between the states and Federal Government would
1478
      recommend would need to occur, and why?
1479
           Mr. {Butler.} Very specifically, and I will just
1480
      reiterate a comment I had before, as we focus more attention,
1481
      and U.S. EPA is starting to aggressively develop not only
1482
     health assessments, but further on, with potential regulatory
1483
     limits in safe drinking water, through the contaminant rule,
1484
     I think that coordinating more up front versus more reactive
1485
      is something we would encourage, and think it ultimately
1486
     leads us to a better product. I think we get there guicker,
1487
     and I think U.S. EPA would concur with that. So it is not a
1488
      fault, but I just think a process that would allow that would
1489
     be much more beneficial.
1490
           Mr. {Harper.} And, Mr. Donahue, if you can just kind of
1491
      educate me a little bit, and those that are tuning in, give
1492
     us--discuss effective ways to treat drinking water for the
1493
     cyanotoxins.
1494
          Mr. {Donahue.} Thank you, Congressman. Yes, typically,
1495
     you know, conventional coaquiation and sedimentation can take
1496
      care of this. There are a number of other treatment
1497
     technologies that are able to remove cyanotoxins from the
```

```
1498
     water. Pre-treatment oxidation, and even microfiltration
1499
     with membrane treatment are all options for treating drinking
1500
     water.
1501
          Mr. {Harper.} Okay. Some of our testimony today talks
1502
      about predicting cyanobacteria blooms through National
1503
     Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration modeling. Can you
1504
     please speak to the challenges of relying on this too much?
1505
           Mr. {Donahue.} I really don't have the answer for that
1506
     question right now, but we would be happy to provide that.
1507
          Mr. {Harper.} Anybody else on the panel want to take a
1508
      shot at that? Okay.
1509
          Mr. {Butler.} Well, Representative, what we are
1510
      encouraged by is NOAA continues to refine their modeling, and
1511
     being able to provide more and more specialized assessments
1512
      in the western basin, we also are working with our aviation
1513
     centers in Ohio in how we can coordinate with NOAA, and even
1514
     NASA, on being able to provide more detailed information
1515
      about looking at the western basin almost in real time, in a
1516
     very specific location. The caution would be not to rely on
1517
      that completely, because you may not always find that those
1518
     are--those--if we have a harmful algal bloom, that those are
```

- 1519 visible from the surface, or from a multi-spectrum scanner.
- So the need to do consistent sampling, and we do that in
- 1521 the near shore environment around the western basin, Ohio EPA
- 1522 and others do sampling to give us a predictor of when those
- 1523 harmful algal blooms may be in place.
- 1524 Mr. {Harper.} Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I yield
- 1525 back.
- 1526 Mr. {Shimkus.} Gentleman yields back his time. Chair
- 1527 now recognize the gentleman from West Virginia, Mr. McKinley,
- 1528 for 5 minutes.
- 1529 Mr. {McKinley.} Yeah, thank you, Mr. Chairman. At the
- 1530 conclusion of Grevatt's comment, and I think the Chairman
- 1531 mentioned it, and then I think, Mr. Donahue, you mention it
- 1532 as well, and that is the State Revolving Fund, I want to get
- 1533 back to that in a minute, but I thought I heard you say in
- 1534 your testimony that there were some 4,500 water treatment
- 1535 facilities in the State of Ohio. Is that accurate?
- 1536 Mr. {Donahue.} That is correct, sir.
- 1537 Mr. {McKinley.} And so we are now--and I don't know how
- 1538 many of that would be across the country. Yeah, if there are
- 1539 4,500 in the State of Ohio, I don't know, how many water

```
1540
      treatment facilities would we have across the country?
1541
     Thousands?
1542
           Mr. {Shimkus.} You may want to direct that to Mr.
     Donahue, David.
1543
1544
           Mr. {McKinley.} Yeah.
1545
           Mr. {Donahue.} Drinking water treatment facilities,
1546
      there are in the neighborhood of 50 to 55,000 treatment--
1547
           Mr. {McKinley.} Okay.
1548
           Mr. {Donahue.} --facilities--
1549
           Mr. {McKinley.} So--but not all of them are going to be
1550
      surface water--
1551
           Mr. {Donahue.} No.
1552
           Mr. {McKinley.} --so--but I think we are primarily
1553
      focused -- where -- back in the State Revolving Fund, we have had
1554
     people come before us in this panel, and other committees,
1555
     where they have talked about -- the State Revolving Fund
1556
      doesn't have an adequate amount of money to meet all of their
1557
      challenges that they have. And perhaps this is -- this
1558
      situation--I am not denying it is happening. I think we have
1559
      to deal with that, and it is just going to exacerbate the
1560
     problem all the more if there is not sufficient money with
```

```
1561
      the SRF. Would you agree with that?
1562
          Mr. {Donahue.} Absolutely. There is significant
     competition for SRF funding right now. AWWA has produced a
1563
1564
      report that has identified more than a trillion dollars'
1565
     worth of infrastructure requirements for the country in the
1566
     next 20 years, and that alone can tax the SRF program. And
1567
      this would only serve to make that matter worse.
1568
           Mr. {McKinley.} Well, that--thank you, because I am
1569
     concerned, as I mentioned in my earlier remarks at the last
1570
     panel, where those small communities, 4,500--how they are
1571
      going to come up with the money, and there has to be a grant
1572
      to be able to help them out to do this. And if the SRF
1573
     doesn't have sufficient funds, it just exacerbates this
1574
     problem all the more.
1575
           So, having said all that, I am curious, and probably
1576
      should have asked Grevatt when he was here, why would the EPA
1577
      reduce funding for the SRF? This -- the president just came
1578
      out with his budget, reduces the State Revolving Fund by
1579
     nearly 40 percent. And when we asked them that question, why
1580
      did they reduce it, knowing so many people in these small
     communities need the money, why would they do that? And his-
1581
```

```
1582
      -and her answer was, we have changed our priorities. Our
1583
     priorities are not State--providing money for communities for
1584
     water systems, but rather for climate change initiatives,
1585
     pamphlets, literature, and education processes around the
1586
      country, and perhaps around the world.
1587
           How would you -- in terms of priorities, okay, would it be
1588
     better to be able to provide money for the -- these communities
1589
     that need water, clean water? Because we have all talked
1590
      about how desperately we need it. Or is it more important
1591
     that we have clean--climate change initiatives?
1592
           Mr. {Donahue.} Certainly, Congressman. Maintaining the
1593
      SRF program, and even increasing it, is something that the
1594
     American Water Works Association fully supports. Many of our
1595
      small, medium, and large communities rely quite heavily on
1596
      the revolving loan funds to support capital projects within
1597
     their community.
1598
           Mr. {McKinley.} So you would have a problem with
      transferring $581 million out of the State Revolving Fund?
1599
1600
           Mr. {Donahue.} I am not sure I am the best person on
1601
      this panel to answer that question, and Dr. Grevatt is still
1602
     here, but I would say yes.
```

```
1603
          Mr. {McKinley.} Thank you. I yield back the balance of
1604
     my time.
1605
           Mr. {Shimkus.} Gentleman yields back his time. Looking
1606
     to the minority side, Mr. Barrow, would--Mr. Barrow waives.
1607
     Chair recognizes the gentleman from Ohio, Mr. Johnson, for 5
1608
     minutes.
1609
           Mr. {Johnson.}
                           Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you
1610
     to the panel members for joining us today. Mr. Butler, it is
1611
     good to see some home folks here today from Ohio.
1612
          Mr. {Butler.} Yes, sir.
1613
          Mr. {Johnson.} Good to have you.
1614
          Mr. {Butler.} Thank you.
1615
          Mr. {Johnson.} Mr. Butler, does Ohio EPA support the
1616
     U.S. EPA issuing a non-contaminating monitoring rule for
1617
     microcystins?
1618
          Mr. {Butler.} Mr. Chairman, Representative Johnson,
1619
     yes, we do?
1620
          Mr. {Johnson.} You do?
1621
          Mr. {Butler.} Yeah.
1622
          Mr. {Johnson.} Okay. How is Ohio dealing with nutrient
1623
     contribution to source water from non-agricultural
```

1624 contributors? 1625 Mr. {Butler.} Mr. Chairman, Representative, that is a 1626 good question. As I mentioned in my testimony, some of the 1627 immediate after action items that we did was -- we were able to secure some money from U.S. EPA. You have often heard, in 1628 1629 our state, people talking about how Grand Lake St. Mary's was 1630 called a watershed in distress, and there has been a call for 1631 calling the western basin of Lake Erie a watershed in 1632 distress. While we think this is important, and that is a 1633 designation that we see as useful in a grand lake, it is not 1634 something that we agree with for the western basin, and the 1635 reason is it is only focused on agricultural sources. 1636 are many contributing sources in the western basin that are 1637 non-agricultural. 1638 We have used the money that was provided by U.S. EPA by the GLRI to go down into the very small sub-watershed levels, 1639 1640 use the information we have through our monitoring and 1641 sampling that worked throughout the state, and in the western 1642 basin, to determine if it is an agricultural contribution 1643 that is most predominant, if it is point source, or other 1644 non-point source, or even--in many parts of our state we have

1645 failing not--failing on-lot septic sewage systems. It is 1646 generally a combination of all those. No watershed is the 1647 same. So we have been able to use that money to target and 1648 develop -- I call it a prescription for each one of these very 1649 small sub-watersheds. That is much more productive, than--it 1650 is just a broad brushed approach. 1651 Certainly agriculture recognizes that they have a 1652 contribution, and they are--they have, and we agree, that 1653 they have stepped up to help us here. But there are other 1654 sources that we are also working on. We have introduced two 1655 pieces of--we have--we are going through our end of the year 1656 legislative session. In House Bill 490 we have recently 1657 added two components. One is adding monitoring, a 1658 requirement that all of our wastewater treatment plants would 1659 include monitoring for phosphorous, so we can determine if 1660 they are contributing, and then manage that. And the second 1661 is we introduced part--a bill that would disallow, unless 1662 under certain conditions, the open lake disposal of dredge 1663 material on Lake Erie, which is also thought to be a 1664 contributor for harmful algal blooms.

1665 We have also--on the agriculture side, we have worked a

```
1666
      lot through Senate Bill 150 that was implemented, on training
1667
     all the farmers to make sure that they are certified on
1668
     application of manure. And we have also done cover crop
1669
     work. We have done soil testing. And so we have got a
1670
      comprehensive program across the board.
1671
           Mr. {Johnson.} Okay. Well, thank you. I understand
1672
      that some groups in Ohio have a citizen sampling program for
1673
     dealing with microcystin. Are the groups operating in Toledo
1674
     working with Ohio EPA?
1675
          Mr. {Butler.} I have heard that the groups exist.
                                                                Ιt
      is not to my knowledge they have worked with us.
1676
1677
          Mr. {Johnson.} Okay. Does Ohio EPA have a citizen
1678
      sampling program?
1679
           Mr. {Butler.} We have a program called Credible Data,
1680
      so whether it is Ohio EPA--we have got a lot of scientists
1681
     that are out in the field collecting water quality data.
1682
     will accept, under certain conditions, if they, you know, if
1683
     citizens or other organizations collect samples, we can
1684
     accept those, as long as they follow the proper chains of
1685
      custody, and that the samples are accurate samples. We have
```

not only guidance in Ohio, but law in Ohio that directs how

1686

```
1687
     we do that, and we are willing to train people to do that.
1688
           Mr. {Johnson.} Okay. Well, you mentioned chain of
1689
     custody. How important is chain of custody, and using
1690
      approved methods when sampling is occurring?
1691
           Mr. {Butler.} It is crucial. Assigned -- we base all of
1692
      our decisions based on science, and the legality of those
1693
      results. So having a complete chain of custody from the time
1694
     the sample is taken, knowing how those samples were taken,
1695
     what parameters they are taken, make sure they are taken
1696
     under the right methods, they are preserved correctly, that
1697
     those samples then are handled correctly for certain periods
1698
     of time. Some call for icing of those samples, some don't.
1699
      So this--the whole chain of custody, and how those samples
1700
      are managed to get them to our laboratory, to get them
1701
      through our testing methodology, is critical. And if it is
1702
     not done the right way, it calls into question the result.
1703
           Mr. {Johnson.} Okay. Well, thank you very much.
      Chairman, I yield back.
1704
1705
           Mr. {Shimkus.} Gentleman yields back his time.
1706
     be remiss if I didn't also mention the USDA Rural Development
```

ability to access water assistance for small rural Americans.

1707

```
1708
      It has been very, very helpful, and I can't say enough about
1709
     it. Based upon the agreement between the majority and
1710
     minority committee staff, I would like to request unanimous
1711
     consent that the letters from the following organizations, as
1712
     well as their attachments, be inserted into the hearing
1713
     record. The Association of State Water Drinking
1714
     Administrators, the Internal Bottled Water Association, the
1715
     Fertilizer Institute, the American Municipal Water
1716
     Association. Without objection, so ordered.
1717
           I would also like to request unanimous consent that
1718
     members have 5 legislative days to submit statements for the
1719
     record. And, with that, I want to thank you for coming.
1720
      think it was very helpful and educational. I look forward to
1721
     working with you, and the hearing is adjourned.
1722
           [Whereupon, at 11:41 a.m., the Subcommittee was
```

1723

adjourned.]